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What is already known about the topic?

•	 The COVID-19 pandemic has led to excess mortality globally.
•	 Mortality has been high in the UK, compared to other nations. However, place of death – and particularly any changes 

in deaths at home during and between COVID-19 waves – has not yet been reported in detail.
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Abstract
Background: Understanding patterns of mortality and place of death during the COVID-19 pandemic is important to help provide 
appropriate services and resources.
Aims: To analyse patterns of mortality including place of death in the United Kingdom (UK) (England, Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland) during the COVID-19 pandemic to date.
Design: Descriptive analysis of UK mortality data between March 2020 and March 2021. Weekly number of deaths was described 
by place of death, using the following definitions: (1) expected deaths: average expected deaths estimated using historical data 
(2015–19); (2) COVID-19 deaths: where COVID-19 is mentioned on the death certificate; (3) additional non-COVID-19 deaths: above 
expected but not attributed to COVID-19; (4) baseline deaths: up to and including expected deaths but excluding COVID-19 deaths.
Results: During the analysis period, 798,643 deaths were registered in the UK, of which 147,282 were COVID-19 deaths and 17,672 
were additional non-COVID-19 deaths. While numbers of people who died in care homes and hospitals increased above expected 
only during the pandemic waves, the numbers of people who died at home remained above expected both during and between the 
pandemic waves, with an overall increase of 41%.
Conclusions: Where people died changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, with an increase in deaths at home during and between 
pandemic waves. This has implications for planning and organisation of palliative care and community services. The extent to which 
these changes will persist longer term remains unclear. Further research could investigate whether this is reflected in other countries 
with high COVID-19 mortality.
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What this paper adds

•	 Number of people who died at home in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland have remained constantly above 
expected levels throughout the first 12 months of the COVID-19 pandemic, with an increase of 67% in the first wave, 
43% in the second wave and 33% between these waves.

•	 People who died in care homes increased above expected levels in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by 
134% during the first wave and 10% in the second wave of the pandemic but fell below expected levels by 3% between 
these waves.

•	 People who died in hospitals in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland increased by 35% above expected levels 
in the first wave of the pandemic, and 26% in the second wave, but fell by 13% between these waves.

Implications for practice, theory or policy

•	 Further research is needed to understand the reasons for this increase in numbers of people who died at home, whether 
this will be sustained in the future, and if this has been replicated in other countries.

•	 There are implications for future organisation of services and resource allocation. If increase numbers of home deaths 
continue, increased resources are needed to support primary, community and palliative care services.

•	 It is important for primary care, community and palliative care services to be well-integrated and efficient in providing 
support in patient’s homes and care homes.

Background
COVID-19 has led to high excess mortality globally, with 
healthcare systems and economies in both developed 
and developing countries placed under significant pres-
sure. The key role of palliative and end-of-life care has 
been emphasised. However, providing high quality palli-
ative care has been difficult due to the challenges posed 
by the pandemic1,2 and services offering palliative care 
report feeling ignored during the pandemic response.3 
COVID-19 has a rapid course4 and requires rapidly 
responsive services. The experience of those involved in 
caring for patients at the end-of-life during the pan-
demic, irrespective of their illness, has been that com-
munication, support and advance care planning have 
been vitally important, with patients and loved ones 
often highly distressed during a time of social isolation 
and visiting restrictions.5,6

To learn from this crisis, governments, policymakers 
and healthcare providers need to know how the demo-
graphics of mortality, including place of death, have 
changed. Given the shift in mortality patterns brought 
about by the pandemic, further study of numbers and 
patterns in place of death is required to highlight impli-
cations for palliative and end-of-life care provision in the 
UK. A study by Bone et al.7 conducted during the first 
10 weeks of the pandemic in England and Wales demon-
strated a 220% increase in care home deaths, while 
home and hospital deaths increased by 77% and 90% 
respectively.

The aim of this study is to analyse the patterns of mor-
tality, with an emphasis on place of death, in the United 
Kingdom (UK) during the initial 12 months of the COVID-
19 pandemic to suggest implications for palliative and 
end-of-life care service provision, resource allocation and 
further research.

Methods

Design
Descriptive analysis of mortality data routinely collected 
in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. The 
methods outlined by Bone et al.7 were used in the design 
of this study.

Data sources
Publicly available datasets for the study timeframe 
(7/3/2021–12/3/2021 in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland, and 9/3/2021–14/3/2021 in Scotland) pub-
lished online by the Office for National Statistics (ONS), 
National Records of Scotland (NRS) and Northern Ireland 
Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA) were used as 
follows:

•	 Estimates of the population for the UK, England 
and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland8

•	 Weekly registered deaths in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland including COVID-19 
deaths and historical weekly deaths9–12

•	 Five-year average deaths registered by place of 
death for England, Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland13–16

Data were described by week, where week 1 is the first 
week of the year. Death registration data differed between 
nations; see Supplemental Appendix Text 1 for details.

Analysis
The following mortality categories were calculated from 
the datasets:
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1. Expected deaths: Deaths expected to occur in a 
typical year without the pandemic. This was 
derived from the average number of deaths over 
the previous 5 years (2015–2019) obtained from 
the national statistics agencies and used to calcu-
late average deaths separated into five age groups 
(<45, 45–64, 65–74, 75–84 and 85+ years).

2. COVID-19 deaths: Deaths where COVID-19 was 
mentioned on the death certificate as published in 
the datasets. COVID-19 can be mentioned on the 
death certificate based on clinical presentation in 
the absence of a positive test.17

3. Additional non-COVID-19 deaths: Deaths in excess of 
expected deaths, not accounted for by deaths where 
COVID-19 is mentioned on the death certificate.

4. Baseline deaths: The total number of deaths regis-
tered in each week minus the number of COVID-
19 and additional non-COVID-19 deaths.

To compare patterns between the UK nations and regions, 
death rates for each mortality category above were calcu-
lated per 100,000 of population, using population esti-
mates from mid-2019.8

Due to a lack of consensus on a definition to describe 
the waves of the pandemic, we defined a wave as:

•	 10% or more increase in total deaths, compared to 
expected deaths, sustained for at least 3 weeks or 
more and ending when total deaths were <10% 
above 5-year average for at least 3 weeks, where 
the first week of this 3-week period is the wave end 
date.

Place of death
Place of death was described using the definitions pro-
vided in the datasets of each nation (Supplemental 
Appendix Table 1).

Weekly data for 5-year average deaths by place of death 
was used to calculate baseline and additional deaths in 
each location and in the four nations combined.

Patient public involvement (PPI)
Our PPI partner (JMcA), a co-author of this work, was 
active in discussions of the data and its presentation, 
including the decisions regarding key messages of the 
work. JMcA was also involved in revisions of the drafts 
and approval of the final manuscript.

Ethics and consent
This analysis was conducted using publicly available, 
anonymised datasets. Therefore, no ethical approval was 
necessary.

Results
In the UK between week 11 of 2020 and week 10 of 2021 
(7/3/2020–12/3/21 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, 
and 9/3/2020–14/3/2021 in Scotland), there were 798,643 
deaths registered, an increase of 119,241 (17.6%) compared 
to expected deaths. 147,282 (18.4%) of these deaths had 
COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate and there 
were 17,672 additional non-COVID-19 deaths (Figure 1). 
There were differences in patterns of mortality between the 
UK nations and regions of England over the study period 
(Supplemental Appendix Table 2, Supplemental Appendix 
Figures 1 and 2, Supplemental Appendix Text 2).

Using our definition, two waves of deaths are evident:

•	 Wave 1 = weeks 14–23 of 2020 (28/3/2020–
30/5/2020 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland 
30/3/2020–1/6/2020 in Scotland)

•	 Period between wave 1 and wave 2 = weeks 23–43 
of 2020 (30/5/2020–17/10/2020 in England, Wales 
and Northern Ireland 1/6/2020–19/10/2020 in 
Scotland)

•	 Wave 2 = week 43 of 2020–week 8 of 2021 
(17/10/2020–20/2/2021 in England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland, and 19/10/2020–22/2/2021 in 
Scotland)

Mortality patterns by age
The age distributions of people who died in the UK showed 
COVID-19 deaths were overall older compared to expected 
deaths (Figure 2 and Supplemental Appendix Table 3). The 
age distribution of COVID-19 deaths was similar between 
waves one and two, and between these waves (Supplemental 
Appendix Table 3). Data on the age distribution of people 
who died in England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland is shown in Supplemental Appendix Table 3.

Place of death during the pandemic
Where people died changed during the pandemic in 
England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland compared to 
the expected place of death (Figure 3 and Table 1). Overall 
during the study timeframe, compared to expected deaths, 
the number of people who died at home increased by 41%, 
in care homes increased by 23% and in hospital increased by 
11%. Fewer people died in inpatient hospices in England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland amounting to a reduction of 
15% overall (Table 1). A summary of the changes in place of 
death by nation is presented in Supplemental Appendix 
Figures 3–7 and Supplemental Appendix Text 3.

When comparing the two waves of the pandemic  
(Figure 3 and Table 1), where people died in the four UK 
nations varied. Compared to expected deaths, those who 
died in care homes increased by 134% in the first wave and 
10% in the second wave. There was a 35% increase in deaths 
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Figure 2. Age distributions of baseline deaths, COVID-19 deaths and additional non-COVID-19 deaths between week 11 of 2020 and 
week 10 of 2021 (7/3/2020–12/3/2021 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 9/3/2020–14/3/2021 in Scotland).

Figure 1. All deaths registered in the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic between week 11 of 2020 and week 10 of 2021 (7/3/2020–
12/3/2021 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 9/3/2020–14/3/2021 in Scotland).
*Bank and public holidays in 2020/21, and historically, may have impacted death registrations during the indicated weeks.

registered in hospitals in the first wave, and a 26% increase 
in the second wave. Between wave 1 and wave 2, deaths in 
care homes fell by 3% and deaths in hospitals by 13%.

In England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, 
there was a persistent increase in people who died at 
home compared to expected, throughout both waves and 
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between these waves (Figure 3 and Table 1). In the first 
wave, deaths at home increased by 67% and this increase 
was maintained between the waves by 33%, and in the 
second wave by 43% above expected.

Deaths where COVID-19 was reported on the death 
certificate contributed to the increase in hospital and care 
home deaths to a much greater extent than home deaths. 
The percentage of deaths during the study period occur-
ring in hospitals and care homes in the UK where this was 
the case was 32% and 21% respectively. Of those who 
died at home, just 4% had COVID-19 mentioned on the 
death certificate. Therefore, most of the excess deaths 
occurring at home during the study period were non-
COVID-19 deaths as can be seen in Figure 3.

There were also variations in the relative proportions 
of place of death throughout the pandemic (Figure 4 and 
Table 1). Over the study period in the UK, the percentage 
of all registered deaths occurring in hospital was 45%, at 
home was 29% and in care homes was 23%. In England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland, those who died in inpatient 
hospices accounted for 4% of all deaths during the study 
timeframe. Care homes became the most common place 
to die in the UK in week 18 during the first wave of the 

pandemic before returning to be the third most common 
place to die by week 21. There are differences in the rela-
tive proportions of place of death between the nations of 
the UK; these are shown in Supplemental Appendix Figure 
7 and summarised in Supplemental Appendix Text 3.

Discussion
Our analysis of UK mortality data has shown that, overall, 
there has been an 17.6% increase in deaths during the 
first 12 months of the pandemic. We have been able to 
define two distinct pandemic waves: from March 2020 to 
the end of May 2020, and from mid-October 2020 to the 
end of February 2021. We already know that the numbers 
of people dying in hospitals, and care homes increased 
during these pandemic waves. However, we newly report 
the sustained increase in people who died at home not 
just during these waves, but between these waves.

Deaths at home were persistently elevated throughout 
the whole 12 months of the pandemic, while hospital and 
care home deaths do not show this pattern. This high-
lights the need for reorientation of palliative and end-of-
life care towards the community. Previous research has 

Figure 3. COVID-19 and additional non-COVID-19 deaths registered as occurring in hospitals, homes and care homes in England, 
Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, and inpatient hospices in England, Wales and Northern Ireland during the COVID-19 
pandemic between week 11 of 2020 and week 10 of 2021 (7/3/2020–12/3/2021 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 
9/3/2020–14/3/2021 in Scotland) according to place of death and geographical area.
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shown that most people who state a preference would 
prefer to die at home, although many do not state any 
preference.18,19 However, the pandemic may have 
impacted on patient and family/carer decision-making 
regarding preferred place of care and therefore our previ-
ous understanding of this requires updating.

During the first wave of the pandemic, those who died 
in hospitals, care homes and at home all increased, with 
the greatest relative increase being in care homes. 
Consequently, care homes became the most common 
place for people to die for a brief period during the first 
wave. Due the need to shield residents from COVID-19, 
and resource limitations such as a lack of adequate per-
sonal protective equipment, palliative and end-of-life care 
provision for those occupying the 539,900 care home 
beds in the UK20–23 (Supplemental Appendix Table 5) has 
been challenging.24 Despite a decrease in care home 
deaths in the second wave, care homes remain an impor-
tant place of care for people at the end-of-life and it is 
essential to ensure they are adequately resourced and 
integrated into the wider palliative care system.

The rise in people who died at home, and the need for 
greater care home support, has increased demand on com-
munity services and prompted shifts in how care is deliv-
ered. The changes brought about due to the pandemic 
such as the increased use of advance care planning25 sup-
ported by the development of resources to aid such con-
versations,26,27 and the use of virtual technologies to 
support patients and family members28 may well continue 
in future practice. In addition, visiting restrictions and social 

distancing has emphasised the importance to patients of 
face-to-face visits of both family members and healthcare 
workers, especially at the end-of-life.29

The reasons for persistently elevated deaths at home 
between the first and second pandemic waves is unclear 
and the majority of those who died at home did not have 
COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate; this indi-
cates that factors other than infection with SARS-CoV-2 
may have contributed to this rise. For example, interruption 
in care or missed opportunities for intervention, for exam-
ple in those with acute myocardial infarction or symptoms 
suggestive of cancer,30–32 may have increased the number 
of people dying at home from non-COVID-19 causes. This 
may contribute to an ongoing increase in mortality as the 
incidence of COVID-19 falls. However, deaths occurring out-
side of hospital may have been under recognised as caused 
by COVID-19 with suggestion that reporting of less well-
defined causes of death on the death certificate may repre-
sent underreported COVID-19.33

Prior to the pandemic, hospitals were often seen as the 
safer place of care due to the availability of rapid medical 
support34 however, the fear of nosocomial infection as 
well as visiting restrictions and capacity issues may have 
increased reluctance to accept inpatient admission. This 
reduction in choice of place of care may have influenced 
patient and family member preferences.35 Even before 
the pandemic, evidence suggested that increasing num-
bers of people are expected to die at home in the next 
decade in Britain.36,37 Therefore, primary care, palliative 
care and other services may see increased demand for 

Figure 4. All deaths registered in the UK (England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland) during the COVID-19 pandemic between 
week 11 of 2020 and week 10 of 2021 (7/3/2020–12/3/2021 in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 9/3/2020–14/3/2021 in 
Scotland) according to place of death by relative proportion.
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end-of-life care at home with the acknowledgement that 
the COVID-19 pandemic is a historically unique and hope-
fully temporary anomaly and there is uncertainty regard-
ing long term impacts. Further research is needed to 
explore whether societal preferences and expectations 
have changed, how these trends will continue, and the 
implications this will have for services.

A recently published analysis by Wu et al.33 also ana-
lysed official death registrations to the end of June 2020 in 
England and Wales. This analysis incorporated data on 
place of death but also provided information on cause of 
death allowing for greater evaluation of the possible 
explanations for additional deaths in the locations stud-
ied. Our analysis builds on this data by extending the 
study period to include the entirety of the two waves of 
the pandemic and the inter-wave period across all four 
nations of the UK. However, further analysis including the 
data used by Wu et al. exploring cause of death across this 
period in the locations outlined would be helpful to fur-
ther evaluate the possible reasons for persistently ele-
vated non-COVID deaths at home.

Throughout the pandemic, people who died in inpa-
tient hospices fell to below expected levels; there appears 
to have been decreased demand on inpatient palliative 
care units with a simultaneous reduction in capacity 
because of COVID-19 restrictions. The rise in hospital and 
community deaths indicates that need for palliative care 
services in these locations have increased. Studies have 
highlighted marked changes in palliative care services 
during the pandemic.3,28,38,39 It will be important to 
address the barriers highlighted by these studies, includ-
ing remote consultations, service adaptations and 
increased community resources.

Additional non-COVID-19 deaths were higher during the 
first wave, but not in the second wave. As the pandemic 
progressed, testing capacity increased (Supplemental 
Appendix Figure 7), as did understanding of the condition, 
meaning it is likely cases of COVID-19 were less often recog-
nised earlier in the pandemic. Particularly in the first wave, 
the reduced availability of testing, with resources focussed 
on hospital inpatients, may have resulted in an underre-
porting of COVID-19 in the community.

Strengths and limitations
This study has described the patterns of mortality and 
place of death during the COVID-19 pandemic using offi-
cial death registration data for whole country populations. 
There are however limitations to the study arising from 
the data sources and the methods used.

There were differences in the reporting of the data and 
the definitions used between the three national statistics 
agencies, including variation in week numbering, place of 
death definitions and variation over whether deaths of 
those resident outside the country or region of death 

were included in the data (Supplemental Appendix Text 
1). ‘Hospice’ (referring to inpatient hospices) was a sepa-
rate location category in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland but has been combined with other categories in 
Scotland. Given the relatively small numbers of inpatient 
hospice deaths, this is likely to have had minimal impact 
on the overall UK data patterns described. In addition, 
delays in reporting of deaths such as during bank holidays 
appears to have impacted our data during those weeks 
and have also impacted the historical death data however, 
this occurs in isolated weeks and is unlikely to have a sig-
nificant impact on the overall data presented. There may 
also be secular trends occurring between years in the his-
torical data used.

Implications for policy, data and future 
research
There has been a shift in where people have died during 
the pandemic, with a persistent and sustained increase in 
people who died at home throughout the pandemic 
period. Further research is required to understand the 
reasons for this. Understanding the decision-making pro-
cess around place of care from the perspective of family 
and/or carers of those who died during the pandemic is 
especially important; to understand why this has hap-
pened and whether the changes are likely to continue in 
the future. To gain an understanding of these patterns, 
further research employing data on an individualised 
rather than aggregated whole population level will be 
required.

Studies in other areas of the world with high levels of 
excess mortality are also needed to assess whether this 
pattern is replicated elsewhere. Further analysis of addi-
tional non-COVID-19 deaths by disease group would ena-
ble assessment of the true number and nature of these 
deaths. The importance of greater consistency in mortal-
ity data collection and reporting between nations has also 
been highlighted.

Our paper highlights place of death for those dying 
with COVID-19, and also how the pandemic has changed 
place of death for those dying from non-COVID-19 causes. 
International comparisons of place of death are challeng-
ing40 and evidence suggests significant variations in place 
of death between countries.41 However, within-country 
analyses of changes in place of death over time and dur-
ing the pandemic are important.

Conclusions
Where people died in England, Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, 
affecting not only those with COVID-19 but also people 
who died from other causes. There has been a sustained 
rise in people who died at home, not just during the 
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pandemic waves but between these waves as well. 
Community, primary and palliative care services need to be 
adequately resourced to meet current and future palliative 
care needs, and to be flexible and responsive if further 
changes in place of care and death occur. Further research 
is needed to understand the reasons for these changes in 
place of death, whether they will be sustained in the future 
and if they are replicated elsewhere in areas with high lev-
els of excess mortality.

Acknowledgements
We thank Assem Khamis for additional data analysis support.

Authorship
SO’D, AEB, KES and FEMM wrote the protocol, with critical 
input from all authors. SO’D, AEB, AMF, KES and FEMM ana-
lysed the data. All authors had access to all study data, dis-
cussed the interpretation of findings and take responsibility 
for data integrity and analysis. JMcA is PPI partner and pro-
vided critical reflections throughout on selection of data, anal-
yses and interpretation. SO’D, with FEMM, drafted the 
manuscript. All authors contributed to the analysis plan and 
provided critical revision of the manuscript for important intel-
lectual content.

Declaration of conflicting interests
The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with 
respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this 
article.

Funding
The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support 
for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: 
This research is funded by the end-of-life charity, Marie Curie, and 
was conducted at Hull York Medical School, University of Hull, in 
collaboration with King’s College London, and University of 
Cambridge. Marie Curie supports research into palliative and end-
of-life care to improve the care that is provided to people affected 
by any terminal illness. For more information, visit http://www.
mariecurie.org.uk/. SB is part-funded by the National Institute for 
Health Research (NIHR) Applied Research Collaboration (ARC) 
East of England programme. IJH is a NIHR Emeritus Senior 
Investigator and is supported by the NIHR ARC South London at 
King’s College Hospital National Health Service Foundation Trust. 
AEB is supported by The Dunhill Medical Trust grant [number 
RPGF1906\177] and Cicely Saunders International. AMF is funded 
by a Marie Curie Research Fellowship. KES is funded by an NIHR 
Clinician Scientist Fellowship (CS-2015-15-005) and is the Laing 
Galazka Chair in palliative care at King’s College London, funded 
by an endowment from Cicely Saunders International and the 
Kirby Laing Foundation. FEMM is a NIHR Senior Investigator. The 
views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily 
those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health and 
Social Care.

Research ethics and patient consent
This study utilised publicly available, anonymised data, ethical 
approval and patient consent was not required.

ORCID iDs
Sean B O’Donnell  https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1666-0164
Anna E Bone  https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8800-9581
Irene J Higginson  https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3687-1313
Katherine E Sleeman  https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9777-4373
Fliss EM Murtagh  https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1289-3726

Data management and sharing
All data used in this study is available online.

Supplemental material
Supplemental material for this article is available online.

References
 1. Radbruch L, Knaul FM, de Lima L, et al. The key role of pal-

liative care in response to the COVID-19 tsunami of suffer-
ing. Lancet 2020; 395: 1467–1469.

 2. Etkind SN, Bone AE, Lovell N, et al. The role and response of pal-
liative care and hospice services in epidemics and pandemics: 
a rapid review to inform practice during the COVID-19 pan-
demic. J Pain Symptom Manag 2020; 60: e31–e40.

 3. Oluyase AO, Hocaoglu M, Cripps RL, et al. The challenges of caring 
for people dying from COVID-19: a multinational, observational 
study (CovPall). J Pain Symptom Manag. Epub ahead of print 
February 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2021.01.138

 4. Hall M, Pritchard M, Dankwa EA, et al. ISARIC clinical data 
report 20 November 2020. medRxiv, 2020.

 5. Ting R, Edmonds P, Higginson IJ, et al. Palliative care for 
patients with severe covid-19. BMJ 2020; 370: m2710.

 6. Janssen DJA, Ekström M, Currow DC, et al. COVID-19: 
guidance on palliative care from a European Respiratory 
Society international task force. Eur Respir J 2020; 56. DOI: 
10.1183/13993003.02583-2020

 7. Bone AE, Finucane AM, Leniz J, et al. Changing patterns 
of mortality during the COVID-19 pandemic: population-
based modelling to understand palliative care implications. 
Palliat Med 2020; 34: 1193–1201.

 8. Office for National Statistics. Estimates of the population for 
the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/pop-
ulationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorth-
ernireland (2020, accessed 18 December 2020).

 9. Office for National Statistics. Deaths registered weekly in 
England and Wales, provisional, https://www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmar-
riages/deaths/datasets/weeklyprovisionalfiguresondeath-
sregisteredinenglandandwales (2021, accessed 1 April 2021).

 10. National Records of Scotland. Deaths involving coronavirus 
(COVID-19) in Scotland, https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/
covid19stats (2021, accessed 1 April 2021).

 11. Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency. Weekly death 
registrations in Northern Ireland, 2020, https://www.nisra.gov.
uk/publications/weekly-deaths (2021, accessed 1 April 2020).

 12. Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency. Historical 
weekly deaths, 2011–2019, https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publi-
cations/weekly-deaths (2020, accessed 18 December 2020).

 13. Office for National Statistics. Death registrations and five 
year average weekly deaths by local authority and place of 

http://www.mariecurie.org.uk/
http://www.mariecurie.org.uk/
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1666-0164
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8800-9581
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3687-1313
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9777-4373
https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1289-3726
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/weeklyprovisionalfiguresondeathsregisteredinenglandandwales
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/weeklyprovisionalfiguresondeathsregisteredinenglandandwales
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/weeklyprovisionalfiguresondeathsregisteredinenglandandwales
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/weeklyprovisionalfiguresondeathsregisteredinenglandandwales
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/covid19stats
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/covid19stats
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/weekly-deaths
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/weekly-deaths
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/weekly-deaths
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/weekly-deaths


1984 Palliative Medicine 35(10)

occurrence, England and Wales: 2015 to 2019, https://www.
ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeath-
sandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsa-
ndfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceo-
foccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepop
ulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/
adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweekly
deathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandw
ales2015to2019 (2020, accessed 16 March 2021).

 14. Office for National Statistics. Five year average weekly 
deaths by place of death, England and Wales, deaths 
occurring between 2015 and 2019, https://www.ons.gov.
uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmar-
riages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeaths
byplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween
2015and2019 (2020, accessed 10 March 2021).

 15. National Records of Scotland. Weekly deaths by date of 
occurrence, health board and location 2015–2019, https://
www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/
statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/
weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-
involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statis-
tics (2020, accessed 10 March 2021).

 16. Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency. Weekly 
deaths in Northern Ireland, by place of death and LGD, 
2015–2019, https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/user-
requested-deaths-data (2021, accessed 23 March 2021).

 17. Her Majesty’s Passport Office. Guidance for doctors complet-
ing medical certificates of cause of death in England and Wales 
(2020). https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877302/
guidance-for-doctors-completing-medical-certificates-of-
cause-of-death-covid-19.pdf (accessed 15 August 2021).

 18. Gomes B, Calanzani N, Gysels M, et al. Heterogeneity and 
changes in preferences for dying at home: a systematic 
review. BMC Palliat Care 2013; 12: 7.

 19. Hoare S, Morris ZS, Kelly MP, et al. Do patients want to die 
at home? A systematic review of the UK literature, focused 
on missing preferences for place of death. PLoS One 2015; 
10: e0142723.

 20. Public Health England. Palliative and end of life care pro-
files: care homes and community, https://fingertips.phe.
org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/
pat/159/par/E92000001/at i/15/are/E92000001/
iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-
do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0 (2020, accessed 1 March 2021).

 21. Statistics for Wales. CIW services and places by setting type 
and year, https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-
and-Social-Care/Services-for-Social-Care-and-Childrens-
Day-Care/cssiwservicesandplaces-by-setting-year (2021, 
accessed 1 March 2021).

 22. Public Health Scotland. Care home census for adults in 
Scotland, https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/care-
home-census (2020, accessed 15 August 2021).

 23. Health and Social Care Northern Ireland. Northern Ireland 
COVID-19 regional action plan for the care home sector (6 
September 2020).

 24. Gordon AL, Goodman C, Achterberg W, et al. Commentary: 
COVID in care homes-challenges and dilemmas in health-
care delivery. Age Ageing 2020; 49: 701–705.

 25. Coleman JJ, Botkai A, Marson EJ, et al. Bringing into 
focus treatment limitation and DNACPR decisions: how 

COVID-19 has changed practice. Resuscitation 2020; 
155: 172–179.

 26. Health Improvement Scotland. Anticipatory care planning for 
COVID-19: new resources to support ACP. https://ihub.scot/
project-toolkits/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit/anticipa-
tory-care-planning-toolkit (accessed 15 August 2021).

 27. Health Improvement Scotland. Care planning conversa-
tions, http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/
our_work/coronavirus_covid-19/care_planning_conversa-
tions.aspx (2021, accessed 29 March 2021).

 28. Dunleavy L, Preston N, Bajwah S, et al. ‘Necessity is the mother 
of invention’: specialist palliative care service innovation and 
practice change in response to COVID-19. Results from a mul-
tinational survey (CovPall). Palliat Med 2021; 35: 814–829.

 29. Hanna JR, Rapa E, Dalton LJ, et al. A qualitative study of 
bereaved relatives’ end of life experiences during the COVID-
19 pandemic. Palliat Med 2021; 35: 843–851.

 30. Maringe C, Spicer J, Morris M, et al. The impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on cancer deaths due to delays in diag-
nosis in England, UK: a national, population-based, model-
ling study. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 1023–1034.

 31. Sud A, Jones ME, Broggio J, et al. Collateral damage: the 
impact on outcomes from cancer surgery of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 1065–1074.

 32. Mafham MM, Spata E, Goldacre R, et al. COVID-19 pandemic 
and admission rates for and management of acute coronary 
syndromes in England. Lancet 2020; 396: 381–389.

 33. Wu J, Mafham M, Mamas MA, et al. Place and underly-
ing cause of death during the COVID-19 pandemic: retro-
spective cohort study of 3.5 million deaths in England and 
Wales, 2014 to 2020. Mayo Clin Proc 2021; 96: 952–963.

 34. Gerber K, Hayes B and Bryant C. ‘It all depends!’: a quali-
tative study of preferences for place of care and place of 
death in terminally ill patients and their family caregivers. 
Palliat Med 2019; 33: 802–811.

 35. Mitchell S, Oliver P, Gardiner C, et al. Community end-of-life 
care during the COVID-19 pandemic: initial findings of a UK pri-
mary care survey. medRxiv 2021: 2021.2002.2015.21251756, 
2021. DOI: 10.3399/bjgpo.2021.0095.

 36. Finucane AM, Bone AE, Evans CJ, et al. The impact of popu-
lation ageing on end-of-life care in Scotland: projections 
of place of death and recommendations for future service 
provision. BMC Palliat Care 2019; 18: 112.

 37. Bone AE, Gomes B, Etkind SN, et al. What is the impact 
of population ageing on the future provision of end-of-
life care? Population-based projections of place of death. 
Palliat Med 2018; 32: 329–336.

 38. Antunes B, Bowers B, Winterburn I, et al. Anticipatory pre-
scribing in community end-of-life care in the UK and Ireland 
during the COVID-19 pandemic: online survey. BMJ Support 
Palliat Care 2020; 10: 343–349.

 39. Pearce C, Honey JR, Lovick R, et al. ‘A silent epidemic of grief’: 
a survey of bereavement care provision in the UK and Ireland 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open 2021; 11: e046872.

 40. Ined C. The demography of COVID-19 deaths: deaths in hos-
pitals, in institutions, at home, https://dc-covid.site.ined.fr/
en/presentation/q2/ (2021, accessed 15 August 2021).

 41. Broad JB, Gott M, Kim H, et al. Where do people die? An 
international comparison of the percentage of deaths 
occurring in hospital and residential aged care settings in 
45 populations, using published and available statistics. Int 
J Public Health 2013; 58: 257–267.

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019?:uri=peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/12615deathregistrationsandfiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbylocalauthorityandplaceofoccurrenceenglandandwales2015to2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbyplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween2015and2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbyplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween2015and2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbyplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween2015and2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbyplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween2015and2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/adhocs/11622fiveyearaverageweeklydeathsbyplaceofdeathenglandandwalesdeathsoccurringbetween2015and2019
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/general-publications/weekly-and-monthly-data-on-births-and-deaths/deaths-involving-coronavirus-covid-19-in-scotland/related-statistics
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/user-requested-deaths-data
https://www.nisra.gov.uk/publications/user-requested-deaths-data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877302/guidance-for-doctors-completing-medical-certificates-of-cause-of-death-covid-19.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877302/guidance-for-doctors-completing-medical-certificates-of-cause-of-death-covid-19.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877302/guidance-for-doctors-completing-medical-certificates-of-cause-of-death-covid-19.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877302/guidance-for-doctors-completing-medical-certificates-of-cause-of-death-covid-19.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/pat/159/par/E92000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/pat/159/par/E92000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/pat/159/par/E92000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/pat/159/par/E92000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/11/gid/1938133060/pat/159/par/E92000001/ati/15/are/E92000001/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_eng-vo-0_eng-do-0
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Services-for-Social-Care-and-Childrens-Day-Care/cssiwservicesandplaces-by-setting-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Services-for-Social-Care-and-Childrens-Day-Care/cssiwservicesandplaces-by-setting-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Services-for-Social-Care-and-Childrens-Day-Care/cssiwservicesandplaces-by-setting-year
https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/care-home-census
https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/care-home-census
https://ihub.scot/project-toolkits/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit
https://ihub.scot/project-toolkits/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit
https://ihub.scot/project-toolkits/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit/anticipatory-care-planning-toolkit
http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/coronavirus_covid-19/care_planning_conversations.aspx
http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/coronavirus_covid-19/care_planning_conversations.aspx
http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our_work/coronavirus_covid-19/care_planning_conversations.aspx
https://dc-covid.site.ined.fr/en/presentation/q2/
https://dc-covid.site.ined.fr/en/presentation/q2/

